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INTRODUCTION

“It shall be the goal of the City of Jacksonville to identify, document,
protect, and preserve its archaeological, historic, architectural, and
cultural resources. Instilling public awareness of those resources
shall be a part of that effort.”

With that goal, the City of Jacksonville in 1990 adopted a Historic
Preservation Element as part of its comprehensive plan. The element
defines the City’s role in addressing historic preservation issues and
concerns. The cornerstone of the preservation program is enabling
legislation that empowers the City Council to designate individual
landmarks and historic districts and to establish a commission to
review proposed physical changes .to designated landmarks and
districts. Each locally designated landmark will be established by
ordinance after a public hearing. The landmarks and the boundaries
of historic districts will be designated on the official Zoning Atlas
maintained by the City’s Building and Zoning Inspection Division.

The Atlas will then be used to flag those permitted activities requiring
review from the Planning and Development Department or from the
Jacksonville Historic Planning Commission.

Design guidelines, which form the basis for determining the
appropriateness of changes to existing buildings and new construction,
are required under the ordinance when the City Council designates a
historic district.

The following guidelines explain the architectural character of the
Riverside-Avondale Historic District and provide standards to ensure
the protection of significant buildings and sites located there.






OVERVIEW OF THE
RIVERSIDE AVONDALE
HISTORIC DISTRICT






A. HISTORY - RIVERSIDE AND AVONDALE

This historical overview of Riverside and Avondale is Jrom
Jacksonville's _Architectural Heritage: Landmarks for the
Future, Revised Edition, Wayne W. Wood, 1996,
Jacksonville, Florida.

After the American Revolution, Spain regained East Florida
from England. Eager to attract new inhabitants, the Spanish
Government in 1790 began granting tracts of land to
prospective settlers. The area known today as Riverside and
Avondale is based on two such grants, one to Philip Dell and
the other to Robert Hutcheson.

Dell received his 800-acre grant in 1801. It included all of
the land along the river between McCoys Creek and a point
midway between Barrs and King streets. Known as "Dell
Bluff," this property changed hands several times until 1847,
when it was purchased by James Winter, who operated an
extensive plantation there, In 1868 Edward M. Cheney,
_editor of the Jacksonville newspaper, The Florida Union,
purchased the southern 500 acres of Dell's Bluff for $10,000
in gold. He bought the land as an agent for John Murray
Forbes, a Boston millionaire, who had the land platted and
named it "Riverside."

Southwest of Dell's Bluff was a 150-acre tract granted in
1815 to Robert IHutcheson, who established a successful
plantation there. Three years later he obtained another 350
acres, extending his holdings to the south. This entire tract of

land came into the ownership of William McKay in 1836,
who named it "Magnolia Plantation.” Producing sea island
cotton, the plantation worked fifly slaves.

When Elias Jaudon bought Magnolia Plantation in 1850, it
included 550 acres extending from what is now Powell Place
all the way to Fishweir Creek. Expanding the plantation to
over one thousand acres, Jaudon produced cotton, corn, sweet
polatoes, sugar cane, cattle, and sheep. After his death in
1871, Magnolia Plantation was sold and divided into several
truck farms. In fact, all of today's Riverside and Avondale
remained rural in character until 1887 when the first surge of
residential development occurred. Afier Jacksonville's cily
limits were extended to include Riverside (out to King Street),
a street railway was built connecting the suburb with
Downtown. In 1893, the name of the main road was changed
from Commercial Street to Riverside Avenue. Two years
later, Riverside ‘was an established upper  middle-class
neighborhood of 2,500 residents. -
Following the Great Fire of 1901, many prominent citizens
built large mansions along Riverside Avenue. This gallery of
elegant homes was nicknamed "The Row" and became the
residential showplace of the city. Away from the river more
modest bungalows and two-story houses spread southwest (0
King Street and beyond, following the extension of the
streetcar line.

During the peak years of Riverside's development from 1901
to 1929, a profusion of residential building styles gained
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as "Avondale.” By the time the Florida building boom fizzled
in 1928, virtually all of this area had been developed.

Although primarily residential in character,
Riverside/Avondale has three small-scale retail districts,
which generally blend harmoniously with the neighborhood.
Commercial zoning on the northern portion of Riverside
Avenue, along with the construction of the Fuller Warren
Bridge and Interstate 95, have brought an end to the elegant
homes along "The Row," replacing them with modern office
buildings. Two sprawling hospital complexes farther down
Riverside Avenue have also intruded into the ambiance and
residential quality of the neighborhood.

Today Riverside and Avondale still form one of Florida's
unique neighborhoods. The riverfront setting, the ample
parks, and the tree-canopied streets blend with the varied
architecture to produce a pleasing tapestry. In recognition of
these qualities, the Riverside section was listed in the National
Register of Historic Places in 1985 as Jacksonville's first
Historic District.
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as early as the 1880s. Its wide use in residential construction
began in the 1910s.

Although the Bungalow is the most common architectural

style”in Riverside, other styles contribute (o the character of

the district.  Prairie School and Colonial Revival style
buildings are present in significant concentrations. These
buildings are concentrated along St. Johns and Riverside
avenues and were generally built for wealthier clients. It is
also more likely that these houses were individually designed
by architects.

Mediterranean influenced architecture is represented to a
lesser extent in Riverside, although there are some fairly
significant individual examples. Mediterranean architecture
was much more common in the major subdivision adjoining
Riverside on the west. The Mediterranean influence may be
represented to a lesser degree in Riverside because of the
earlier period of development.

Many of the apartment buildings in Riverside utilize
Mediterranean details and decoration. The use of unstuccoed
brick is another variation on Mediterranean architecture in
Riverside which is not common elsewhere in the State.

Other architectural styles represented in Riverside include
Georgian Revival, which became popular in the 1920s, Tudor
Revival style, and a few isolated examples of Queen Anne
architecture. In addition, frame and brick vernacular houses
may be found throughout the district.

12

In the 1910s and 1920s, many multi-family residential
buildings began appearing in Riverside. In response to
population increases, duplex and quadruplex units were
designed and built. These buildings are especially prevalent
in Riverside Annex. Most are either frame or masonry
vernacular. The frame structures are generally two stories
with drop siding. They have either one or two-story verandas
and hip roofs. Gable roofs were used on some of the
buildings built before 1915. The windows are generally one-
over-one, double-hung sash.

Very functional, plain brick duplexes and quadruplexes
became increasingly common in the late 1920s. These
buildings tended to be two stories and were highlighted by a
centrally placed two-story porch. The period of low-rise
apartment construction initiated in the 1920s continued until
the 1950s. :

Commercial architecture in Riverside was, and is, modest.
There are four concentrations of 1910s and later commercial
storefront developments in the area. The most concentrated
commercial development from the 1910s and 1920s is called
Five Points and is located in the northeast corner of the
district.  This concentration is composed of one- and (wo-
story stucco-clad buildings. All of the storefronts in the other
commercial areas along King Street, Barrs Avenue, and
McDulf Avenue are simple brick or stucco buildings set at the
property lines with large plate-glass windows and (ransoms.
Throughout the Riverside Historic District there are many
historic churches, schools and other non-residential buildings.
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These buildings generally date from between 1910 and 1930
and are of masonry construction. Riverside Baptist Church
was designed in 1925 by Addison Mizner, one of Florida's
most  significant twentieth century architects. Other
significant  churches in the district include Riverside
Presbyterian Church , the Church of the Good Shepherd,
Riverside Avenue Christian Church, and St. Pauls' Roman
Catholic Church.

Mediterranean architecture proved to be popular for the
public schools in Riverside. West Riverside Elementary,
John Gorrie Junior High and Robert E. Lee High School both
reflect this influence.

Good Shepherd
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Willowbranch Library
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and two-story single-family residences embodying a variety of
early twentieth-century architectural styles. The residences
range from finely crafted, custom-built, upper class homes to
speculative housing designed for the city's then burgeoning
middle class.

Part of the significance of the Avondale Historic District is its
association with prominent architects. Professionally trained
or self-taught architects designed over one-hundred buildings,
or roughly one-sixth of the total number of those contributing
to the district.

Design control and land-use restrictions were a key part of (he
historic development of Avondale. The Avondale Company
controlled land use, density of development, and setbacks
through restrictive covenants. The covenants prohibited
apartments, flats, hospitals, stores, and offices. They
restricted density of development by limiting construction to
one house per lot. They established set-back at 10" for lots
over 65' and 7.5' for lots under 65'. Model homes
established precedent for architectural designs that followed
as the development grew. Spanish and Italian-styled
residences with tile roofs were among the first models. Other
styles included Colonial Revival, Tudor, and Bungalow.

Land-use controls, landscape features, and the design and
construction standards employed by the developers produced
a visual cohesiveness throughout the district. Few buildings
exceed two stories in height and all buildings are detached and
share common setbacks. They are located on generous lots
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and have regular ground plans, usually rectangular in form.
With the exception of the Bungalow style, the broad side of
most buildings faces the street. The Bungalow is usually
oriented with the narrower, gable end facing the street.

The Avondale Historic District contains numerous examples
of well-designed custom built and speculative housing.
Avondale contains an overwhelming concentration of formal
architectural styles.  Only 28 contributing buildings are
classified as frame vernacular and many of these exhibit
stylistic influences.  Common architectural styles are the
Colonial Revival with over 200 examples and the Bungalow
with 191. Other common styles are the Prairie, Tudor, and
Mission, Halian Renaissance, Spanish Eclectic, and other
Mediterranean influenced styles.

The architecture of Avondale is decidedly eclectic, and is
reflective of popular architectural trends and local historical
precedents. Many styles common (0 Avondale, such as the
Colonial and Tudor Revivals, might be found —in—any—
contemporary suburban development of the day. The Prairie
School is generally associated with the Midwest. Henry John
Klutho, a native of Illinois, introduced the style to
Jacksonville following the great fire of 1901, Finally, the
large number of Spanish and ltalian influenced designs in
Avondale are reflective of Florida's Boom period architecture
and could easily be found in any community in the southern
part of the state. The unique mix of architectural influences is
another aspect of the architectural significance of Avondale.
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Historic Buildings

The contributing  buildings of the district  possess
characteristics that are associated with national and stalewide
trends in architecture during the first half of the twentieth
century. The superior building materials employed in their
construction and the high level of craftsmanship that is
apparent in many of the designs readily distinguishes them
from the modular prefabricated buildings that dominated
home construction in the post World War 11 era. The
majority of the contributing buildings in the district exhibit
elements of one or more architectural styles that were popular
at the time of their construction. Architectural styles
represenied in the proposed district include the Craftsman
style, Colonial Revival, Prairie School, Tudor Revival,
Mediterranean Revival, Mission, Italian Renaissance,
Minimal Traditional, Classical Revival, and Art Déco. Other
buildings in the district are classified as either frame or
masonrv vernacular.

The most distinctive architecture in the area is found south of
St. Johns Avenue where prominent local businessmen built
homes on large lots with proximity to the river front. For the
most part, the homes along Richmond and Hendrick Streets,
Montgomery Place, Arden Place, and Shadowlawn,
Greenwood, and Morningside Avenues were designed by
prominent local architects and reflect definitive architectural
stvles that were popular at the time of their construction.

Most have hollow tile or brick structural systems and are
sheathed with stucco or brick veneer. The area northwest of
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St. Johns Avenue contains a high concentration of residences
that, while more modest in scale than those to the south,
exhibit a wide range of historic architectural styles. Packed
tightly on narrow lots, the homes there are between one and
two and one-half stories. They usually have one or more
associated outbuildings that also date from the historic period.
The predominant structural system in the area is wood,
balloon frame, but a number were constructed of hollow tile
and brick.

The small commercial area along St. Johns Avenue and at the
intersection of Dancy Street and Park Street are harmonious
wilh the surrounding residential sections. The buildings are
examples of one-part commercial blocks that reflect masonry
vernacular, Mediterranean Revival, Mission, and Art Deco
designs. Typical of other commercial sections in the cily, the
area has suffered from intrusion of modern commercial
architecture and ' the alteraticn of some of the historic
storefronts.

All of the contributing properties in the district were
constructed hetween 1910 and 1947. While the majority of
the subdivisions that make up the area were platted in the
decade between 1906 and 1915, only a few existing buildings
in the district were constructed before World War |. Most of
the buildings date from the Florida Land Boom period of the
1920s. The wild success of Telfair Stockton's Avondale
Subdivision, which was platted in 1920 and borders the area
on the northeast, drew attention to the arca and sparked the
first significant development in the district. Building dropped
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Tools for Local
Preservation
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A. THE JACKSONVILLE HISTORIC PRESERVATION
ORDINANCE

"It shall be the goal of the City of Jacksonville to identify,
document, protect, and preserve its archaeological, historic,
architectural, and cultural resources.  Instilling public
awareness of those resources shall be a part of that effort."

With that goal, the City of Jacksonville in 1990 adopted a
Historic Preservation Element as part of its Comprehensive
Plan. The element defines the City's role in addressing
historic preservation issues and concerns. In the fall of 1990,
the City enacted the Jacksonville Historic Preservation
Ordinance  (#90-706-486). The Jacksonville Historic
Preservation Ordinance, Chapter 307 Ordinance Code, gives
the City the authority to regulate physical changes to
individual landmarks and to buildings and sites within historic
districts.  The authority of the City is derived from the
traditional power and responsibility of government to restrict
individual conduct or use of property and to protect the public
health, safety, and welfare. This power and responsibility are
essentially left to local governments and can play a significant
role in protecting or preserving historic resources. The 1980
amendments to the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966
encouraged local governments to strengthen municipal
iegislation for the designation and protection of historic
properties. Through its home-rule law, the State of Florida
permits local government to exercise the powers of self
government, subject to the constitution and general laws of
the state. In the exercise of government to protect historic

23

resources, (he authority is generally employed in the
enactment and implementation of a historic preservation
ordinance, as was done in Jacksonville.

Local preservation ordinances are the most effective method
of regulating changes to historic resources. It is not an
arbitrary and capricious exercise of municipal authority, but a
necessary action to preserve the community's cultural,
archaeological, and architectural heritage and thus to maintain
economic and social value.

B. JACKSONVILLE
COMMISSION

HISTORIC PRESERVATION

The Jacksonville Historic Preservation Ordinance established
the seven-member Jacksonville [Ilistoric  Preservation
Commission. The Jacksonville Historic Preservation
Commission is appointed by the Mayor of the City of
Jacksonville with City Council approval, and is provided
administrative support by the Jacksonville Planning and
Development Department.






The Certificate of |
Appropriateness Process






A.  CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES REQUIRING A
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS

A property owner who wishes (o physically alter the exterior
of a- contributing structure, or construct a building within a
designated historic district must obtain a Certificate of
Appropriateness (COA) before beginning work. An
application and instructions are available from the
Jacksonville Planning and Development Department at 128 E.
Forsyth Street, The Florida Theatre Building, Suite 700.

A Certilicate of Appropriateness is required for many
permitted activities which change the appearance of an
existing building as viewed from a public right-of-way, for
new construction and for demolition or relocation of historic
buildings.

Certificates of Appropriateness may be issued at two levels
depending on the complexity of the proposed change. For
simple projects, such as the repair of deteriorated features, a
Certificate of Appropriateness can generally be issued
following an administrative review by the Jacksonville
Planning and Development Department staff. Staff may also
issue a Certificate of Appropriateness for plans that have been
certified for purposes of obtaining federal tax credits or
approved by the Bureau of Historic Preservation, Florida
Department of State, for purposes of using state or federal
loans or grants-in-aid. Denial by staff of a Certificate of
Appropriateness may be appealed to the Jacksonville Historic
Preservation Commission.
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More complex changes will require review by the
Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission conducted as a
public hearing.

A Certificate of Appropriateness will not be required for the
demolition of non-historic  buildings or for ordinary
maintenance or painting of historic buildings (except for the
painting of unpainted masonry). Ordinary maintenance is
defined as work to repair or prevent deterioration of a
building. A COA is also not required for interior changes (o
a structure that would not be visible from a public right-of-
way. At the request of the owner or af their discretion, the
Jacksonville Planning and Development Department and the
Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission may also issue
non-binding recommendations for certain changes not
requiring a Certificate of Appropriateness. Examples of such
changes might include landscaping, paint colors, and
alteration and additions not visible from the public right-of-
way.

Activities requiring only Planning and Development
Department staff review:

1. Awning and canopy installation.
2. Deck installation at ground level which is not visible from

a public right-of-way and which does not alter a historic
building.
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10. Storefront restoration or replacement.

I1. Window replacement (more than 25%).

Activities for which Planning and Development
Department Staff or Jacksonville Ilistoric Preservation

Commission may issue an advisory opinion at the owner's
request or their discretion:

1. Changes to historic features not visible from the public
right-of-way.

2. Landscaping or other changes to Historic selting.

3. Parking lot placement and resurfacing.

4. Paint colors.

S. Placement of window air-conditioners.

6. Placement of burglar bars.
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C. STEPS IN OBTAINING
APPROPRIATENESS

A CERTIFICATE OF

For projects requiring only administrative review.

1. Property owner applies for building permit for work on
building located within historic district or contact the
Jacksonville Planning and Development Department
before seeking a permit.

2. Planning official provides an application for a Certificate
of Appropriateness.

3. Planning official and property owner confer about the
proposed changes to the building and procedures for
completion of the application.’

4. Planning official approves or denies application for
changes requiring administrative review. Owner may
appeal denial to the Jacksonville Historic Preservation
Commission or re-submit application with recommended
changes.

For projects requiring Jacksonville llistoric Preservation
Commission Review the following additional steps will be
required:

5. Property owner submits completed application or request
for opinion of appropriateness to planning official at least
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lifteen days prior (o Jacksonville Historic Preservation
Commission meeling.

6. Nolice of time and place of meeting sent in writing to
applicant and sign posted on property informing public of
Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission Meeting.

7. Certificate of Appropriateness granted, granted with
" modifications, deferred, or denied by Jacksonville Iistoric
Preservation Commission.

8. Property owner withdraws and resubmits application or
appeals decision of Jacksonville Historic Preservation
Commission to City Council Commission. Property
owner can also appeal decision to the JIIPC based upon a
demonstrated economic hardship.

D. DOCUMENTATION

Documentation supporting the application is also required and
will vary depending on the complexity of a project. For
projects requiring only staff review, a complete application
will generally be limited to the following documentation:

1. A'site plan, showing location of the building, its distance
from property lines, its orientation, and the names of front
and side streets. A survey of the property containing the
aforementioned information may bhe substituted for a site
plan. A description and the location ol any changes
should be marked clearly on the plan.
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